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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
GEORGIA NORTHERN DISTRICT COURT

H.M., an individual;
Plaintiff

-againsi- CIVIL ACTION NO :

RED LION HOTELS CORPORATION; COMPLAINT

AND WYNDHAM HOTELS AND RESORTS, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
LLC:

Defendanis.

COMPLAINT
COMES NOW the Plainiiff H.M., by and through the undersigned counsel, and respectfully submits

her complaint for damages and makes the following averments.
INTRODUCTION

l. For years, sex trafficking ventures have brazenly operated in and out of hotels throughout this
country, Criminals parade their misconduct openly on hotel properties throughout the United States while
the hotels and hospitality industry remain willfully blind to the criminal miscenduct to continue earning a
profit at the expense of human life, human rights, and human dignity.

2. Red Lion Hotels Corporation (hereinafier “RLH Corporation™) and Wyndham Hotels and Resorts,
LLC (hereinafer “Wyndham") know and have known for more than a decade that sex trafficking repeatedly
occurs under their flag throughout the country. Rather than taking timely and effective measures to thwart
this epidemic, both RLH Corporation and Wyndham have instead chosen to ignore the open and obvious
presence of sex trafficking on their properties; enjoying the profit from rooms rented for this explicit and
apparent purpose.

3. This action for damages is brought by the Plaintiff, a survivor of sex trafficking hereinafter

identified by her initials H.M., under the federal William Wilberforce Trafficking Victims Protection
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Reauthorization Act of 2008 (hereinafter “TVPRA™).

4. H.M. was trafficked for commercial sex at the age of 25 years old in northern Georgia. Her
trafficker presented himself to the Plaintiff as a friend at a time when she was acutely vulnerable. He
loaned her money so that she would not lose her housing and then used physical violence, emotional
manipulation, and that peonage to force H.M. into performing commercial sex for his profit and under his
caplivity and control.

5. The Plaintiff now brings this action for damages against the Defendants listed herein. Each of the
Defendants, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1595, knowingly benefited from participation in a venture that
they knew, or should have known, to be engaging in sex trafficking in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1591(a).

6. H.M. was advertised on wwiw.backpage.com against her will, physically tortured, and then
sexually exploited under such duress at hotels in Jonesboro and Morrow, Georgia, including the
America’s Best Value Innx and the Days Innerespectively.

7. As adirect and proximate result of RLH Corporation and Wyndham's consistent refusals to
prevent human trafficking on their hotel properties, H.M. was sex trafficked, sexually exploited, and
victimized repeatedly at both RLH Corporation and Wyndham brand hotels.

8. The Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to the Trafficking Victims Protection Reauthorization
Act, 18 U.S.C. §1595, against the Defendants who enabled, harbored, held, facilitated, and financially
benefited from a venture in which H.M. was trafficked for the purpose of commercial sex, sexually

exploited, and brutally victimized in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1591 (a).

PARTIES
9. The Plaintiff, having moved to proceed anonymously,' and, herein, identified by her initials

H.M., was 23 years old when she was trafficked in several hotels in Jonesboro and Morrow Georgia for

! Contemporancously with the Complnint, Plaintiff H.M. filed o Mation for Protective Order and Leave 1o Procecd Anonymously
with Memorndum in Suppost based upon the nature of the allegations in the instant Complaint, which are of an inherently
intimate and personal aature That motion is pending Undersigned Counsel will provide her identity to counsel for the
Defendunts upon proper cffectuation of service.
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the purpose of commercial sex. The Plaintiff is a victim of trafficking pursuant to 22 U.S.C. §7102 (15)
and 18 U.S.C. §1591 (a), and a victim of a “severe form of trafficking” as it is defined under 22 U.S.C
§7102 (14). The Plaintiff currently resides in Newion County, Georgia.

10. Defendant Red Lion Hotels Corporation (“RLH Corporation™) is a Washington corporation and
can be served by its registered agent Corporate Creations Network, 2985 Gordy Parkway, Marietia, GA,
30006. America’s Best Value Innw is a RLH Corporation brand property.

11. Defendant RLH Corporation is the parent company of the hotel chain America’s Best Value
Inn.. RLH Corporation retains successor liability for the wrongful acts of its predecessor America’s Best
Value [nna.

a. Asa hotel operator, Defendant RLH Corporation controls the training and policies for
its branded properties including the America’s Best Value Innwe where H.M. was
trafficked. Defendant RLH Corporation represents that it considers guest safety and
security important and requires the hotels in its portfolio to comply with RLH
Corporation brand standards and all local, slate, and federal laws.,

b. Through its relationship with the staff at the America’s Best Value Inn, where H.M.,
was trafficked and the perpetrator who trafficked H.M. at America’s Best Value Inn.
hotels while registered as a guest there, Defendant RLH Corporation knowingly
benefited or received something of value from its facilitation of, or participation in, a
venture which it knew or should have known had engaged in sex trafficking.

c. RLH Corporation receives a percentage of the gross room revenue from the money
generated by the operations of America’s Best Value Inny hotels, including a
percentage of the revenue generated for the rate charged on the hotel guest rooms in
which the Plaimtiff was sex trafficked.

d. Atall relevant times RLH Corporation owned, supervised, and/or operated the
America’s Best Value Innxlocated at 6358 Old Dixie Highway, Jonesboro, Georgia

30236.
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12,  Defendant Wyndham Hotels and Resorts, LLC is a Delaware corporation and can be served by
its registered agent Corporate Creations Network, LLC, 2985 Gordy Parkway, Marietta, GA, 30006.

13.  Defendant Wyndham Hotels and Resorts, LLC., is the parent company of Days [nn
Worldwide, Inc. (“Days Inn"). Wyndham Hotels and Resorts, Inc. retains successor liability for wrongful
acts of its predecessor Days Inn Worldwide, Inc. (“Days Inn™).

a. As a hotel operator, Defendant Wyndham controls the training and policies for its
branded properties including the Days Inny. where H.M. was trafficked.

b. Defendant Wyndham maintains that it considers guest safely and security to be
important and requires the hotels in its portfolio to comply with Wyndham brand
standards and all local, state, and federal laws.

c. Through its relationship with the staff at the Days Innxwhere H.M. was trafficked and
the perpetrator who trafficked H.M. at the Days Inn. while registered as a guest there,
Defendant Wyndham knowingly benefited or received something of value from its
facilitation of, or panticipation in, a venture which it knew or should have known had
engaged in sex trafficking.

d. Wyndham receives a percentage of the gross room revenue from the money generated
by the operations of Days Inny hotels, including a percentage of the revenue generated
for the rate charged on the hotel guest rooms in which the Plaintiff was sex trafficked.

e. At all relevant times Wyndham owned, supervised, and/or operated the Days [nn. at
1599 Adamson Parkway Morrow, GA 30260.

14. Whenever reference is made in this Complainl to any act, deed or conduct of the Defendants, the
allegation is that the Defendants engaged in the act, deed, or conduct by or through one or more of their
officers, directors, agents, employees, or representatives who was actively engaged in the management,

direction, control, or transaction of the ordinary business and affairs of the Defendants.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE
15. This Honorable Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C, §§ 1331 because this action arises
under the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United States (with an amount in controversy that
exceeds $75,000.)
16. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 because a substantial part of the
events or omissions giving rise 1o the claims asserted in this action, including the Defendants’

misconduet and omissions, occurred in the judicial district where this action is brought.

SEX TRAFFICKING UNDER FEDERAL LAW

17. Sex trafficking is defined by the TVPRA under 22 U.S.C. § 7102, as “the recruitment,
harboring, transportation, provision, obtaining, patronizing, or scliciting of a person for the purposes of
a commercial sex acl and in which the commercial sex act is induced by force, fraud, or coercion,”
This definition combines the three elements of sex trafficking as a criminal offense: the act, the means,
and the purpose.

18. To best understand the mechanism by which sex trafficking ventures are prohibited by federal
criminal law, it’s best to address these elements in the reverse. Sex trafficking is slavery for the
puirpose of commercial sex, a lens on the already existing crimes prohibited by 18 U.S.C. § 1589 and
§1590. The crime of slavery can then be divided into the two (2) elements remaining: the act and the
means. The act is the “harboring, transporting, providing, or obtaining,” of forced labor, codified as a
violation of 18 U.5.C. §1590, while the mieans is labor “obtained or provided by force, fraud or
coercion” and is codified as a violation of 18 U.8.C. §1589,

19. Thus, while the complete definition of *sex trafficking’ is found in the TVPRA under 22
U.S.C. § 7102, and it is specifically prohibited under |8 U.S.C. §1591, it is nevertheless a long-
recognized and familiar atrocity.

20. Pursuvant to 18 U.S.C. §1591(a), all who knowingly provide or obtain commercial sex that was

provided or obtained through force, fraud, and coercion are guilty of sex trafficking. This includes, at a
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minimum, bath the ‘traffickers” who recruit, harbor, transport, and provide individuals for forced
commercial sex work and the ‘Johns’ or ‘buyers’ who obtain, solicit, or patronize forced commercial
sex work.?
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
A. THE HOSPITALITY INDUSTRY'S PARTICIPATION IN THE SEX TRAFFICKING
INDUSTRY
“73% of survivory responding to Polariv's swvey reported coming into contact wivh hotels af soine poin
during their exploitation... Unforumately, 94%a alvo disclosed thar they never received winy asvisiance,
concern, or identification from hotel siafl.”
~The Polaris Project
2L. Human trafficking is the world's fastest growing crime.! While the term ‘human trafficking’
incorporates all forced labor, the sex trafficking industry alone pulls in an estimated $99 billion each
year making it the second largest illicil crime industry behind only the sale of al/ illegal drugs.?
22. Sex traffickers, or *pimps’, use threats, violence, manipulation, lies, debt bondage, and other
forms of coercion to compel adults and children to engage in commercial sex acts against their will.
23. The hospitality industry plays a crucial role in the sex trade.®* The trope of the “no-teil motel”
is certainly not a new one. Hotels have long profited from their reputations as havens of privacy and
discretion for the offending. Hotels offer anonymity and non-traceability, making them ideal venues

for crime and sex teafficking in particular.

24. According to National Human Trafficking Hotline statistics, hotels are the top-reported venue,

2 While the *pimps” or *providers’ are often referred 1o as the “traffickers” and the purchasers are neferenced as the Johns',
‘tricks’, or ‘buyers’ [and such nomenciature is used herein), under federal law bark categories are “traffickers’.

¥ Recommendations for Hotels and Motels, TUE POLARIS PROIECT, hip: * pulurisproject.org hotels-motels-recommendations (last
visited June 19, 2019)

3 Human Trafficking is the World's Fastest Groning Crime, THE ADVISORY BOARD (May 22,2017, 9:30 AM),

https-/'www advisory.com/daily-bricfing/2017/05/22/human-trafficking.

3 Prafits and Poverty: The Economics of Forced Labor, INTERNATIONAL LABOR ORGANIZATION (May 24, 2014),
hittp://www.ilo.org/global/publications/tlo-bookstore/order-online/oooks/WCMS_243391/lang—en/index . htm.

b Giovannu L. C. Cavagnarv, Sex Trafficking: The Hospitality Industry’s Role and Respensibility, CORNELL UNIVERSITY SCHOOL
of HOTEL ADMINISTRATION (2017), hup:/'scholasship sha.comell.edu/honorstheses/3,
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even over commercial front brothels, where sex trafficking acts occur.” TrafTickers and buyerss alike
[requently use hotel rooms to exploit victims.

25. Traffickers use hotels as the hub of their operations. Inside, the victims are harbored, raped,
assaulted, and forced to service buyers who come to the hotel solely to purchase sex. This is referred
to as an ‘in call’.

26. Hotels are also the venue of choice for buyers seeking an ‘out call,” wherein the buyer rents a
hotel room and the trafficker delivers the viclim to the buyer's room to complete the sordid transaction.
Unsurprisingly, those on the demand side of this transaction (i.e. those purchasing sex} typically
choose to engage in trafficking away from their home, naturally leading 1o the increased involvement
of hotels. In New York City alone, 45% of all reported sexual exploitation took place in hotels,
including the Ritz Carlton and the Plaza.?

27. The problem is industry wide. In the United States, as much as 63% of all trafficking incidents
happen in hotels ranging from luxury to economy.?

28. Due to the overall complacency of the hospitality industry on addressing the issue, hotels are

the venue of choice for sex trafficking.'® Traffickers and buyers capitalize on the hotel industry’s

general refusal to adopt and enforce companywide anti-trafficking policies from the corporate to the
property level, train staff on what to look for and how to respond, and/or establish safe and secure
reporting mechanisms for those at the point of sale.

29. Every day, thousands of holel employees witness manifestations of sex trafficking and
commercial exploitation. Thus, the hospitality industry has the greatest reach to prevent, identify and
thwart sexual exploitation where it is most likely to occur.

30. But aside Irom their unique position in this epidemic, hotels and motels have the highest

? National Human Trafficking Hotline Statistics, THE POLARIS PROJECT (2016), hups / polarisproject.org/resources 201 6-hotline
statistics.

! Giovanna L. C. Cavagnaro, Sex Trafficking: The hospitality Indusiry's Role and Responsibility, CORNELL UNIVERSITY, SCHODL,
OF HOTEL ADMINISTRATION {2017), htip://scholarship.sha comell.eduhonorstheses/3,

* Michele Sarkision, Adepiing the Code: Human Trafficking and the Hospitality Industry, CORNELL HOSPITALITY REPORT, 15(15),
3-10(2015).

W Hatels Initiarive, THE POLARIS PROJECT, hups  polanisproivet org inithatives hoiels (last visited June 19, 2019).
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obligation 1o protect their guests from known dangers, including sex trafficking and sexual
exploitation, and should be held accountable when they fail to comply. As aplly stated in a publicaticn
by the Comell University School ol Hospitality, “the hospitality industry is undoubtedly involved in-
the sex trafficking industry...and therefore has an inherent responsibility to deter the crime and can be
liable for failing to do so.™!

31. Training hotel staff to identify the signs of sex trafficking and sexual exploitation is a critical
and abvious legal obligalion for the hospitality industry. The presence of sex trafficking and sexual
exploitation in a hotel is frequenily an obvious occurrence and, although unutilized, underutilized, or
ineffectively utilized, numerous well-researched trainings and toolkits have been published to the holel
industry over the last decade o help hotel staff in every position to identify the signs.!?

32. From check-in to check-oul there are a number of indicators that traffickers and their victims
exhibit during their stay at a hotel. With proper treining and the implementation of reasonable security
measures, hospitality companies could prevent regular sex trafficking under their flag.

33. Obvious signs of sex trafficking at a hotel may include: an excess of condoms in rooms,
individuals carrying or flashing large amounts of cash, excessive amounts of cash stored in the room,
renting two rooms next door 1o each other, declining room service for several consecutive days,
significant foot traffic in and out of rooms, men traveling with multiple women who appear unrelated,
women known to be staying in rooms without leaving, women displaying physical injuries or signs of
fear and anxiely, guests checking in with little or no luggage, hotel guests who prevent another
individual from speaking for themselves, or a guest controlling another’s identification documents."?

34. Obviously, hotel sialf who have undergone training are more aware of sex trafficking when it

! Giavanna L. C. Cavognoro, Sex rrafficking: The Hospitality Indusiry s Rale and Responsibility, CORNELL UNMIVERSITY, SCHI0OL
OF HOTEL ADMINISTRATION (2017), http//scholarship.sha.comel). edu/honorsthescs/3

12 DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY, Biue Campaign Toofkit, snached os “Exhibit A" Available at:

hitps - ww s dhispos sites defould Giles publications bluc-campaign wolkits bospitaliny -toolkit-eng.pdi.

W d, See also, Shea M, Rhodes, Sex Trafficking and the Hotel Industry: Criminal and Civil Liability for Hoicls and their
Employees, THE INSTITUTE T0O ADDRESS CRIMINAL SEXUAL EXFLOITATION, Villanova University School of Law (2015),

https - cscinstitute org wp-content/ uploads 215 (6 Hotel Policy Paper-1.pdll.
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happens and are more willing to report it than hotel staff who have nol been trained." Thus, hospitality
companies are obligated to adopt policies and procedures related 1o sex trafficking and to enforce these
policies and procedures as brand siandard through to the property level.

35. Hospitality companies can and should mandate that alf staff working at alf hotel properties
across their brand complete sex trafficking training.'

36. The hospitality industry has been cognizant of their role and responsibilities in the sex
trafficking industry for years.

37. Further, nationwide campaigns recognized the issue of human trafficking in the hotel industry
and the lack of intemnal policies to address the issue, and took initiative as early as 1997 with the
United Nations Blue Heart Campaign and domestically in 2010 with the Department of Homeland
Security’s Blue Campaign.'® These efforts sought to educate both the public and private sectors on
identifying and combatting human trafficking, including the hospitality industry and both campaigns
released online resources and toolkits publicly accessible to any entity concemed with human
trafficking.!”

38. Defendant Wyndham has been educated on the occurrence of sex trafficking since at least
2011, when it started training sone of their employees.'®

39. Hospitality companies have both the power and responsibility to make sex trafficking difficult
for the offenders. Yet, they either repeatedly fail to heed the call or repealedly failed to execute their
own policies. Instead, each continues 10 facilitate these crimes at their hotels, content to direct their

efforts solely to profit and the bottom line.

¥ Giavanna L. C. Cavagnaro, Sex Trafficking: The Hospitality Industry s Rele and Responsibility, CORNELL UNIVERSITY, SCHOOL
OF HOTEL ADMINISTRATION (2017), hup://scholarship sho.comell edu/honorstheses:3,

13 Shea M. Rhodes, Sex Trafficking and the Hotel Industry. Criminal and Civil Liahtlity for Hotels and their Emplayees, The
Institute to Address Criminal Sexual Exploitation, Villanova University School of Eaw (2013), hips  csuinstitute org wp-
cuntent uploads 2015 06 Hete! Policy Paper-1.pdi’

18 DHS Bluc Campaign Five Year Milestone, DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY (Jul. 22, 2015},
hitps://www.dhs.gov/blog/201 5/07/2/dhs-blue-compaign-five-year-milestone,

Y7 Human Trafficking and the Huspitality Industry, DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY, hittps www dhs gov bluce-
campaign hospitalityindusiry (last visiied June 19, 2019)

' Dallas Franklin, Several Hotel Chains Training Workers 1o Spat Human Trafficking. CNNWIRE, (Nov. 18, 2014),
hitps:/kfor comr2014/11/18/several-hotel-chainsirining.work ers«to-spotsex-trafficking/
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B. THE DEFENDANTS CONTROL THE HOSPITALITY INDUSTRY

40. Hotel brands or flags lend their name and likeness to third party owners, while the building and
operalions are run by a franchisee or a third party management company under the brands® control. In
return, the parent brand exchanges the high risk that is inherent in owning an asset like a hotel for the
low nisk associated with owning a franchise coniract and still profits from putting heads in beds.

41. The average consumer does not see this relationship, The parent brand gives the franchisee
property its idenlity. It provides signage on and in front of the building that assures customers that if
they check into that hotel they can expect the standards consistent with the parent hotel brand. The
same brand emblazoned on everything in the hotel from the pens in the bedside tables to the staff
uniforms at the front desk.

42. In addition to brand recognition, a marketing organization, hotel listings in the Global
Distribution System (GDS) and other online travel agency databases, the brand provides the franchise
hotel with access to its brand wide central reservation system, 800 number, revenue management tools,
world-class loyalty programs and a website. Thus, booking and room reservations are controlled by
the corporate parent brand."

43. The franchise hotel typically pays around 10% of their total revenue back to the parent hotel
brand and is required to develop and maintain the property in accordance with the parent brand’s
standards as they are laid out in the franchise agreement.

44. Per the franchise agreement, the parent brand may enforce these standards through periodic
inspections and even termination of the franchise agreement if the franchise hotel is found 10 be
inadequate. The right of the parent hotel brand 1o enforce their brand standards is also their
responsibility.

45. At the lime of the incidents alleged herein:

a. Defendant Red Lion Hotels Corporation owned and controlled the America’s Best

"9 Ellen Meyer, The Origins and Growih of Franchising in the Hotel Industry, LODGING MAGAZINE (April 10, 2018)
htips bodgingmagusmne.com: the-origins-and-graw th-o Lranchising-in-the-hotel-industry,
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Value Inny brand.
b. Defendant Wyndham Hotels and Resorts LLC owned and controlled the Days Inn.

brand.

46.  Parent hotel brands may kick delinquent hotels out of their system but it is at the expense of

terminating their royally payments.

C. THE DEFENDANTS’ WILLFUL BLINDNESS TO SEX
TRAFFICKING AT THEIR HOTELS

47.  Defendants RLH Corporation, and Wyndham have been on notice of repeated incidences of sex
tmafficking occurring al their America’s Best Value Inny and Days Inn= hotels yet these brand
managers failed to take the necessary action to prevent sex trafficking and still persist in failing to
take the necessary action to prevent sex trafficking at their hotels.

48. Red Lion Hotels Corporation (“RLH Corporation™):

a. Defendant RLH Corporation owns, supervises, or operates the America's Best Value
Innx at 6370 Old Dixie Highway, Jonesboro GA 30236. RLH Corporation failed to
implement and enforce any of its own policy or policies and protect Plaintiff H.M. from
being sex trafTicked.

b. RLH Corporation knew or should have known that the America’s Best Value Innx hotel
where Plaintiff H.M. was trafficked was an area known for high incidence of crime and
prone to sex trafficking activity on and around the hotel premises, including when
Plaintiff H.M. was trafficked.”

¢.  Despite having knowledge of the extensive prostitution and sex trafficking that occurs
al its hotels, Defendant RLH Corporation has repeatedly failed to stop these actions.

d. Defendant RLH Corporation could have exercised control over America’s Best Value

 Jonesboro. Georgia Crime Rates, NEIGHBORIOOD SCOUT, hitps “www neighborloodscoul.com gafjoneshorn crime {last
visited Oct. 23, 2019). Sec alse Americas Best Value Inn - 6358 Old Dixic Highway Reviews, YELP,

hitps./ www.yelp.com/biz/smericas-best-valuc-inn-jonesboro-3 (“If you are looking for drups o pimp a hooker beg bugs this is
the place to be....and this we were told by the negistry office worker from behind a bulletproof glass!™)
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Innx hotels by:

—

iii.

vi.

vii.

i,

distributing information 1o assist employees in identifying human trafficking;
providing a process for escalating human trafficking concems within the
organization;

requiring employees to altend training related to human trafficking;

providing new hire orientation on human rights and corporate responsibility;
providing training and education to America’s Best Value Inn. branded hotels
through webinars, seminars, conferences, and ontine portals;

developing and holding ongoing training sessions on human trafficking; or
providing checklists, escalation protocols and information to propenty
management staff; or tracking performance indicators and key metrics on human

trafficking prevention.

e. RLH Corporation was in an agency relationship with America's Best Value Inn» branded

hotels offering public iodging services in the hotel. This agency relationship was crealed

through Defendant RLH Corporation’s exercise of an ongoing and systemic right of

control over America’s Best Value Inne hotels by Defendant RLH Corporation’s

operations, including the means and methods of how America’s Best Value Inn, branded

hotels conducted daily business through one or more of the following actions:

;
1.

iii.

iv.

vi.

vii.

hosting online bookings on Defendant RLH Corporation's domain;
requiring America’s Best Value Inn. branded hotels {o use Defendant RLH
Corporation’s customer rewards program;

setling employee wages;

making employment decisions;

advertising for employment;

sharing profits;

standardized training methods for employees;
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viii. building and maintaining the facility in 8 manner specified by the owner;
ix. standardized or strict rules of operation;
x. regular inspection of the facility and operation by owner;
xi. fixing prices; or
xii. other actions that deprive America's Best Value Innx branded hotels of
independence in business operations,

f. An apparent agency also exists between Defendant RLH Corporation and America's
Best Value Innn hotels. Defendant RLH Corporation held out America’s Best Value Inn,.
branded hotels to the public as possessing authority 10 act on its behalf.

g. Given Defendant RLH Corporation’s public statements on behalf of its hotel brands®'
and the control it assumed in educating, implementing, and directing its branded hotels,
including America’s Best Value Inny branded hotels, Dcfcnciam RLH Corporation
breached its duties in the following ways:

i. did not adequately distribute information to assist employees in identifying
human trafficking;
ti. [failed to provide a process for escalating human trafficking concems within the
organization;
iii. failed to mandate managers, employees, or owners attend training related to
human trafficking;

iv. failed to provide new hire orientation on human rights and corporate

*' See RLH Corporation, LH Corporation Annatnces Collaboration With National Safe Place Network to Provide for Yanth in
Need of Immediate Help and Safery, GLOBENEWSWIRE, (Aug. 22, 2019) https  www globenew swire.uom new s-

release 2019 08 221905438 0 en RLH-Comoration-Annsunces-Colluboration- Wih-National-Sufie-Place-Netw ok -to-Prin ide-
for-Youth-in-Need-of-limmediate-Help-and-Salety lunl (*“RLH Corporation President and Chief Executive Oficer. | am proud to
have our Americas Best Value Inn Jocations participate in the program, expanding NSPN's network, providing more lacations in
more communilies for youlh in erisis to go to for help, making a difference and direct impact in our Americas Best Value knn
communitics. .. RLH Corporation is o perfect exomple of the hospitolity industry's comprehensive commitment to safety ” See
also Red Lien Hotels Corporation: See Our Brands - Americas Best Value Inn at hips - www redlion comamiericas-best-w alue-
nn (“At America’s Best Value Inn guests can enjoy a small business feel and rest casy kaowing they're gening the

best valuc in town. Founded on Americon values, we believe in simplicity, friendliness, and honesty. *)
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vi.

vii.

responsibility;

failed to provide training and education on human trafficking through webinars,
seminars, conferences, and online portals;

failed to develop and hold or require ongoing training sessions on human
trafficking; or

failed to provide checklists, escalation protacols and information 10 property
management staff or tracking performance indicators and key metrics on human

trafficking prevention.

h. For years, Defendant RLH Corporation has demonstrated willful blindness to the

rampant culture of sex trafficking which tragically occurs on its America’s Best Value

[nnw branded properties throughout the country. This entrenched and pervasive willful

blindness to sex trafficking facilitated the viclimization of Plaintiff H.M. at America’s

Best Value Innw that forms the basis of this complaint,

i. AMERICA’S BEST VALUE INN.

i.

ii.

iii.

In September of 2019, a trafficker was sentenced to nine years in prison afier
selling a 15 year-old minor for sex out of the America’s Best Value [an in
Scarborough, Maine

In June of 2019, the America’s Best Value Inn in Independence, Ohio was
foreclosed upon. The police chicl of [ndependence commented saying this was
due to the fact that, “There were a dispropontionate number of crimes compared
to other hotels in the city. The management was less than cooperative with
investigative efforts.”

[n May of 2019, nine women between the ages of 18-25 were rescued from sex

2 Liz Gotthelf, Biddeford Woman Sentenced ta Five Years for Promoting Prostitution, JOURNAL TRIBUNE, {Sept. 26, 201Y)
htips /) www.journalinbune com/articles/front-page/biddeford-woman-sentenced-to-five-years-for-promoting-prostitution’.

3 Laura Bednar, Independence Looks to Fill Previously Crime-Ridden Hotel, CLEVELAND COM, (June 9, 2019)

hups- www.cleveland com/communiry 2019/ 06/independence-looks-to-All-previously-crime-ridden-hotel, himl
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trafficking in police stings at the America’s Best Value Inn in Fort Hood, Texas.
Fifteen individuals were arrested in comrelation to the rescue.

tv. InFebruary of 2017, America’s Best Value Inn in Salisbury, Maryland was sued
on the grounds thai it knew or should have known about the high volumes of

young women sex trafficked through their doors.*

49. Defendant Wyndham Hotels and Resorts, Inc. (*Wyndham")

a.

Defendant Wyndham owns, supervises, or operates the Days Innwat 1599 Adamson
Parkway Morrow, GA 30260.
Wyndham failed to implement and enforce any of its own policy or policies and protect
Plaintiff H.M. from being sex trafficked.
Wyndham knew or should have known that the Days Innx hote! where Plaintiff H.M.
was trafficked was an area known for high incidence of crime and prone to sex
trafficking activity on and around the hotel premises, including when Plaintiff H.M.
was trafficked.®
Despite having knowledge of the extensive prostitution and sex trafficking thal occurs
at its hotels, Defendant Wyndham has repeatedly failed to stop these actions.
Defendant Wyndham could have exercised control over Days Inny hotels by:
i. distributing information to assist employees in identifying human trafficking;
ii. providing a process for escalating human trafficking concetns within the

organization;

** Deborsh MeKvon, Nine Women Rescued, 15 Peaple Arrested in Sax Trafficking Sting, (May 14, 2019), TEMPLE DAILY
TELEGRAM, htip - www, tdinews cons news article. 3308238K8-7677-1 1e9-81%{<17¢ | coed 38bI hunl

* Jeremy Cox, Human-Trafficking Victims Sue Salisbury Hotel, DEL MARVA NOW, (Feb. 24, 2047),

hitps ({www.delmarvanow.com/story/mews/local/maryland/201 7/02/24 human-trafficking-victims-suc-hotel/98 347930/

% Morrow, Georgia Crime Rates, NEIGHBORIOOD SCOUT, hitps - www neighborhoudseout. com gafmormow crime (last visited
October 23, 2019), Sce Days Inn — Southfake: Reviews, hips: www wyndhombotels com en-c'duys-inn momrow-georgia/idi-
atint-sthih-mrmw overview (“The fact that the police had to shut this place down should 1ell you everything you need o know
about it... There were sketchy prople around at oll hours of the night and day. ) Sce also Days Inn - Southlnke: Reviews
hips: wwawwy ndbanthotels com  en-ca/days-inn mormow-georgin/di-atnt-sthik-mmw overview (*They are aceepting gocsts &
they are hiterally being shur down atany given moment tor prostitution & inhabitable Fiving conditions *)
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iii.

vi.

requiring employees to attend training related to human trafficking;

providing new hire orientation on human rights and corporate respounsibility;
providing training and education to Days Inn, branded hotels through webinars,
seminars, conferences, and online portals;

developing and holding ongoing training sessions on human trafficking; or
providing checklists, escalation protocels and information to property
management staff; or tracking performance indicators and key metrics on

human trafficking prevention.

f.  Wyndham was in an agency relationship with Days Inny branded hotels offering public

lodging services in the hotel. This agency relationship was created through Defendant

Wyndham’s exercise of an ongoing and systemic right of control over Days Innw hotels

by Defendant Wyndham's operations, including the means and metheds of how Days

Innywbranded hotels conducted daily business through one or more of the following

actions:

iii.

iv.

vi.
vii.
viii,

ix.

xi.

hosting online bookings on Defendant Wyndham’s domain;

requiring Days Inn. branded hotels to use Defendant Wyndham's customer
rewards program;

setting employee wages;

making employment decisions;

advenising for employment;

sharing profits;

standardized training methods for employees;

building and maintaining the facility in a manner specified by the owner;
standardized or strict rules of operation;

regular inspection of the facility and operation by owner;

fixing prices; or



Case 1:19-cv-04859-JPB Document 1 Filed 10/29/19 Page 17 of 34

xii. other actions that deprive Days Inn. branded hotels of independence in
business operations.

g- An apparent agency also exists between Defendant Wyndham and Days Innw hotels.
Defendant Wyndham held out Days Innx branded hotels to the public as possessing
authority to act on its behalf.

h. Given Defendant Wyndham’s public statements on behalf of its hotel brands?? and the
control it assumed in educating, implementing, and directing its branded hotels,
including Days Innx branded hotels, Defendant Wyndham breached its duties in the
following ways:

i. did not adequately distribute information to assist employees in identifying

human trafficking;

ii. failed 10 provide a pracess for escalating human trafficking concerns within the
organization;

iii. failed to mandate managers, employees, or owners attend training related to
human trafficking;

iv. failed to provide new hire orientation on human rights and corporate
responsibility;

v. failed to provide training and education on human trafficking through webinars

seminars, conferences, and online porials;

7 See MODERN SLAVERY STATEMENT, Wyndham Hotels and Resarts LLC at

hups - comorate wyndhambhoiels com modern-sks ery-stimement: (*Ranked smong the World's Most Ethical Companics, our
predecessor's parent company, Wyndham Worldwide Corporation, publicly acknowledged its commitment to operate its business
in o manner consistent with the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights and Global Compact since 2007 when it
first published its Human Rights Policy Statement, o commitment which we continue.™) See also Wyndham Hotels and Resorts
LLC, Our Brands - Days Inn by Wyndhom at hups  corporate wyndhamhotels.com our-hraands days-inn’ (“With over 1,300
properties worldwide, Days Inn helps guests make time with family and friends brighter. Nothing brings us closer like the
cxperience of getting away and creating moments. It's time we all seize the days!™) See afso Wyndham Hotcls and Resorts LLC,
Our Mission hitps'//corporate. wyndhamhotcls com ‘about-us/mission-vision-valuesf (*Our Core Values — Integrity: We hold
ourselves fo the highest standards, We're responsible, truthful end transparent. We do the right thing. Accountability: We honor
our commitments and deliver results. Under ony circumstance, we stand up ond say: “Count on Me.™)
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vi. failed 1o develop and hold or require ongoing training sessions on human
trafficking; or

vii. failed to provide checklists, escalation protocols and information to property
management stafT or tracking performance indicators and key metrics on human
trafficking prevention.

i. For years, Defendant Wyndham has demonstrated willful blindness to the rampant
culture of sex trafficking which tragically occurs on its Days Innw branded properties
throughout the country. This entrenched and pervasive willful blindness to sex
trafficking facilitated the victimization of Plaintifi H.M. at Days Inna that forms the
basis of this complaint.

j- DAYS INNy

i. In February 2019, a man ran a human trafficking operation out of a Days Innx
in Madison Heights, Michigan.*®

ii. In August 2018, four people were arrested for trafficking a 15-year old girl out
of a Days Inna in Marietta, Georgia. They kept the young girl in captivity by
threatening to kill her if she tried to escape.”

iii. InOctlober 2015, a man prostituted women out of a Days Innx in Reading,
Pennsylvania. He controlled the women with drugs and set up sexual
encounters.*

iv. In September 2018, a woman was caught sex trafficking two 17-year old girls

at a Days [nnw in Fayetteville, North Carolina.”'

* Man Charged for Sex Trafficking Oni of Madison Heights Days Inn, FOX 2 DETROIT, (Fcb. 15, 2019)

hutp /'www.fox2detroit com/news/local-news/man-arrested-for-sex-traffick ing-out-of-madison-heights-days-inn

® Shaddi Abusaid, Marietia Sex Trafficking Ring Thwarted, Police Say, MARIETTA DAILY JOURNAL, (Aug. 21, 2018)
htips:/iwww mdjonline. com/news/marietia-sex-trafficking-ring-thwarted-police-say/article_997739c0-055b-11c8-9647-
33880061 1347.himi

% Joseph Kohut, Scranton Sex Trafficking Cases Move Forward, TIMES TRIBUNE, (Dec. 4, 2016)

hitps. iwww.poconorccord. com/news/2016 1 204/scranton-sex-trafficking-cases-move-forword

3 Nancy McCleary, Fayeireville Woman Charged in Human Trafficking Operation, FAYETTEVILLE OBSERVER, (Scpt. 21,
2018). htps:iwww. fayobscrver.com/news/201 8092 ) /fayenteville-woman-chorged-in-human-trafficking-operation
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v. InJuly 2018, a man used social media websites to coerce a young girl to come
to a Days [nnw Gulfport, Mississippi. When she arrived, the man forced her into
sexual servitude, >

vi. InDecember 2018, a couple coerced females from China to move to Maine by
offering tourist visas. Upon arrival, the couple stripped the women and girls of
their identification, advertised them as prostitutes on Craigslist, and forced
them to sexually service men at two Days Inns locations, one in Kittery and the
other in Dover, New Hampshire.”

vii. In June 2018, three individuals were arrested in a human trafficking scheme at a
Days Inny in Virginia Beach, Virginia.™
D. THE SEX TRAFFICKING OF H.M.

50. The facts alleged herein stem from a sex trafficking ring operating in northern Georgia. While
victimized by her trafficker in Georgia, H.M. was subject 1o repeated instances of rape, physical abuse,
verbal abuse, exploitation, psychological tormeat, and kidnapping at the Defendants’ hotels for nearly six
months in 2016,

51. H.M. had escaped an ex-husband who was a tornado of physically abuse and a heroin addiction.
Despite finally leaving him, H.M.’s ex-husband had introduced her to heroin and desperate for any escape
from a harsh reality she too became an addict.

52. Fortified to start anew, H.M. checked herself into a rehabilitation facility and graduated
completely sober. However, afier her graduation she was left with nowhere to go and limited resources.
H.M. checked into the cheapest hotel she could find.

53. So, at 25 years old H.M. was living out of the Southside Inn located at 6370 Old Dixie Highway

% Rabin Fitzgerald, Girl Found Ar a Guilfport Hotel. A Man With Her Is Accused Of Human Trafficking, Sheriff Saps, SUN
HERALD, (July 19, 2018) https //www sunherald com/news/local/crime/amicle2 15055145 himl

"Elizabeth Dinan, Husband, Wife Charged In Sex Trafficking. Prostituiion ‘Scheme’, SEACOAST ONLINE, {Dec. 14, 2018)
hitps:{/www.seacoastonline. com/news 201812 1 dMusband-wife-chorged-in-sex-trafficking-prostitution-scheme

¥ Joson Marks, Three Sex Trafficking Suspects Arrested By Virginia Beach Police, 10 WAVY, (Junc 1, 2018)
hitps://www.wavy.com. newstlocal-news virginia-beachithree-sex-traflicking-suspects-umrested-by-virginia-beach-
police/1213330402
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in Jonesboro, Georgia, recovering from an abusive marriage and the heroin addiction it had caused when
she was targeted by her rafficker.

54. Inapproximately 2016, H.M. was approached by a good-looking man outside of the Southside
Inn who introduced himself only as “Detroit.” Deiroit struck up a conversation with H.M. and over time
she came to see him as a friend. When H.M.’s limited funds ran out shortly thereafier, Delroit
immedialely lent her the money she needed to remain at the Southside Inn.

55. It was then that Detroit became violent. One evening, he sat on top of H.M.'s torso and kept
punching her face, choking her with his bare hands until she was dizzy, and then rising only to kick her
repeatedly as she lay on the ground. Detroit declared to H.M. that he owned her now and she had to have
sex with his clients because of the debt she owed him for the room fare he had provided her.

56. From this point on, H.M. was constantly monitored by her trafficker or one of his lesser partners,
who also participated in the sex trafficking ring. H.M. was unable to go anywhere alone; including the
bathroom. In addition, her trafficker took all of her belongings; including her purse, clothes, ID, and
cellphone. Due Lo her lack of autonomy and access 10 anyone who could help her, H.M. was unable to
escape her trafficker.

57. Detroit worked a number of the hotels in the vicinity of the Southside Inn including the
America’s Best Value Innx located at 6358 Old Dixie Highway in Jonesboro, GA and the Days Innx
located at 1599 Adamson Parkway in Morrow, GA.

58. H.M. was trafficked at the Southside Inn, America’s Best Value Innx, and the Day’s [nna; hotels
that are all in proximity to one another along a stroll, track, strip, or drag, known for a high incidence of
crime and trafficking for the purpose of commercial sex. H.M.'s trafficker instructed his partners to
constantly guard the exits of each of the buildings to ensure none of the women they were trafficking for
commercial sex could escape.

59. H.M.’s trafficker chose these hotels in the Jonesboro/Morrow area of Georgia because they had a



Case 1:19-cv-04859-JPB Document 1 Filed 10/29/19 Page 21 of 34

reputation for commercial sex and illegal activity."

60. H.M. was routinely required to have sex for payment with various buyers at the Defendants’
hotels in response to advertisements for commercial sex that her trafficker posied on www.backpage.com
without her consent. H.M.'s trafficker would also solicit dates for H.M. by hailing male individuals on the
street from the balconies of America’s Best Value Innx.

61. The America’s Best Value Innw had doors that led to the exterior directly from the room. Over
six months H.M.’s trafficker and his partners routinely rented rooms for H.M. and the other women to
sexually service the clients.

62. H.M. was forced to perform commercial sex acts on handfuls of men every day. Each man
entering the rooms al the America’s Best Value Inn. and Days Inn. as an unannounced non-paying guest
and leaving shortly after they arrived. The foot traffic to the rooms was constant and voluminous.

63. At both the America’s Best Value Innx and Days Innx H.M.’s trafficker frequently paid for the
room one night at a time and always paid in cash, he was on a first name basis with the front desk
manager and many members of the hotel staff and spoke with them on a frequent and regular basis. The
rooms were often left with numerous used condoms scatiered across various surfaces at the end of the
evening. Regardless, H.M's trafficker repeated the process multiple times aver the months she was in
captivity.

64. When H.M. did appear in the common areas of the hotels she appeared incredibly malnourished
and withdrawn. She was also consistently dressed in skimpy clothes with deplorable hygiene as her
trafficker deprived her of food, clothing and the permission 1o shower. When H.M. finally escaped her
trafficker she shockingly weighed only 90 Ibs.

65. H.M.’s trafficker was violent and repeatedly assaulted H.M. while they were at both the America’s

% Sec 2 Deud After Shooting At The Southside Inn WSBTVZ, (Aug. 21, 2016) Iittps  nww wshiv com news locat 3-shot-2-dead-
at-the-southside-inn 427336149; See alse Clayion Caunty Gang Unit Tracks ‘Mast Wanted' Fugitive To Old Dixie Horel,
HENRY HERALD, (March 14, 2018} hups www henryherald com new s clayton-coumy-gangsunit-tracks-imost-w anied-

tugiin co-old onticle YcldeSde-5t 1-3078-9052-69145577223 himl, See also Joel Hall, CLAYTON NEWS DAILY, (Feb. 23,
2009) Twelve Snarcd In Prostimtion Sting, Intps - waww news-danly.com new s iwels c-snared-in-prostitution -

sting arbicle 3300 1062-5be2-51h6-820d-9d14 7072162, lum (“Clayton County Police spokeswoeman Lt. Rebecea Brown said in
recent yuars, the area, which is parallel fo Tara Boulevard, has become plogucd by prostitution.™)
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Best Value Innx and Days Innx. The attacks on H.M. were foud enough for the hotel patrons or staff to
hear and recognizing this H.M.’s trafficker would try to hold her mouth closed as he astacked her and she
tried to scream for help.

66. On several occasions at both the America’s Best Value Inny and Days Innx, H.M.’s trafficker had
injured her so badly that she knew the her injuries were visible and noticeable by the public. H.M. stil} has
scars from Detroit’s severe beatings.

67. At both the America’s Best Value Inny. and Days Innx housekeeping staff would come to the
room where H.M."s trafficker was keeping her and he would demand that they leave until eventually
housekeeping stopped coming by the rooms completely.

68. At the Days Innx the front desk manager specifically offered to give H.M.'s trafficker his rooms
for a discount in exchange for sex with H.M.

69. H.M.’s captivity by Detroil was compounded by the fact that the manager of the Southside Inn
was a regular client of her trafficker that he always forced her to service.

70. H.M. was able to escape from the Southside Inn when her trafficker was distracted by one of his
partners. H.M. ran to the front desk of the Southside Inn and while crying hysterically in a rush of panic
asked for a phone.

71. However, the manager behind the desk was the same manager who was a client of her trafficker
and he refused to allow her use of the phone. Detroit caught up to H.M. and demanded that return to her
room and tried to shove her back inside. The manager of the Southside Inn did nothing but demand “that
they take their issues out of the lobby,”

72. H.M. quickly turned and ran until she reached the Americas Best Value [nn, where she begged 10
use & phone to call for help and the familiar front desk manager prohibited her from using a phone and
demanded that she leave.

73. Eventually, another hotel allowed H.M. to use the phone, H.M. called her sister who called the
police and recovered H.M.

74. Prior o, during, and following the incidenis described herein, the Defendants had actual and/or
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constructive notice of drug dealing, prostitution, and/or general safety concemns at their hotels, including,
but not limited to, immediate contact, video surveillance of their holels, as well as oral or written
complaints regarding said suspicious activity. The Defendants failed to take any actions to curtail these
activities.

75.  Had the Defendants been paying attention to the aclivities being conducted at their hotels and on
their propenties, and the apparent red flags outlined above, it would have been impossible for them not to

notice the victimization of H.M.

E. THE DEFENDANTS FACILITATED THE TRAFFICKING OF H.M.

76. Defendanis RLH Corporation and Wyndham profited from the sex trafficking of H.M. and
knowingly or negligently aided and engaged with her trafficker in his sex tralficking venture. The
Defendants leased rooms to H.M.’s trafficker, when they knew, or should have known, that he was using,
used, and would use, their room to imprison H.M., physically assault her, and subject her to repeated
exploilation as he forced her inlo sexual servitude.

77. Defendants RLH Corporation and Wyndham knew, or should have known, that H.M. was being
trafficked for commercial sex and that the Defendants were knowingly benefiting financially from said
exploitation, because H.M.'s trafficker frequented the Defendants’ hotels as well as her buyers.

78. Defendants RLH Corporation and Wyndham actively participated in this illegal endeavor by
knowingly or negligently praviding lodging to H.M."s trafficker in which to harbor H.M. in his trafficking
of her.

79.  Defendants RLH Corporation and Wyndham Corporation profited from the sex trafficking of
H.M. and knowingly or negligently aided and participated with H.M.'s trafficker in his venture.

80. Defendants RLH Comoration and Wyndham actively participated in this illegal endeavor by
knowingly or negligenily providing lodging to those who purchased sex from H.M. and in which to harbor
H.M. while she was being trafficked.

8l. The Defendants all had the opportunity to stop H.M.’s trafficker and offenders like him from
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victimizing H.M. and others like her. Instead, every Defendant failed to take reasonable measures to
stop sex trafficking from occurring in their hotels or abstain from profiting from it.

82. The Defendants all financially benefited from the sex trafficking of H.M., and other viclims like
her, and developed and maintained business models that attract and foster the commercial sex market for
traffickers and buyers alike,

83. Defendants RLH Corporation and Wyndham enjoy the steady stream of income that sex
traffickers bring to their budget level hotel brands, such as Days Inn» and America’s Best Value Inns.

84.  Defendants RLH Corporation and Wyndham financially benefit from their ongoing reputation
for privacy, discretion, and the facilitation of commercial sex.

85. The Defendants failed to take any steps to alert the authorities, properly intervene in the situation,
refuse to rent the room, or take reasonable security steps to improve awareness of sex trafficking and/or
prevent sexual exploitation on their properties.

86. The Defendants maintained their deficiencies to maximize profits by:

a. Reducing the cost of training employees and managers of how to spot the signs of human
trafficking and sexual exploitation and what steps to take;

b. Not refusing room rentals, or reporting guests to law enforcement, in order to maximize
the number of rooms occupied and the corresponding rates, even if the rooms rented were
to sex traffickers or buyers;

¢. Lowering security costs by not having proper security measures, including, but not limited
to, employing qualified security officers to actively combat human trafficking and sexual
exploitation;

87, Asadirect and proximate result of these egregious practices on the part of the Defendants, HM.
and victims of sex trafficking and exploitation like her, have been permanently injured and damaged
physically, emotionally, psychologically, and financially.

CAUSES OF ACTION

A. COUNT ONE - 18 U.5.C §1595 (“TVPRA™)
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88. The Plaintiff H.M. incorporates each foregoing allegation.

89. H.M. is a victim of sex trafficking within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §1591(a) and is therefore
entitled to bring a civil action under 18 U.S.C. §1595.

90. The Defendants’ acts, omissions, and commissions, taken separately and/or together, outlined
above, constitute a violation of 18 U.S.C. §1595. Specifically, the Defendants had a stalulory obligation
not to benefit financially from a venture thal they knew, or should have known, to engage in violations of
18 US.C. §1591 (a). At all relevant times, the Defendants breached this duty by participaling in, and
facilitating, the harboring and providing of H.M. for the purposes of commercial sex induced by force,
fraud, or coercion, by their acls, omissions, and commissions.

91. The Defendants have financially benefited as a result of these acts, omissions, and/or
commissions by keeping operating costs low, and maintaining the loyalty of the segment of their customer
base that seeks to participate in the sex trade. Moreover, the Defendants directly benefitted from the
trafficking of H.M. on each occasion they received payment for rooms that she was being kept in at the
Defendanis’ hotels. The actions, omissions, and/or commissions alleged in this pleading were for and the
proximate cause of H.M.'s injuries and damages.

92. H.M. has suffered substantial physical and psychological injuries as the result of being trafficked

and sexually exploited at the Defendants’ hotels and properties in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1591 (a).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE the PlaintifT requests that the jury selected to hear this case render a verdict in
her favor on all counts alleged, and against each and every named Defendant, separately and severally,
and that it award damages to her in an amount which will adequately compensate her for the injuries and

damages she sustained due to the Defendants’ conduct outlined as follows:

a. All available compensatory damages for the described losses with respect to each cause

of action;
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b. past and future medical expenses, as well as the costs associated with past and future life
care;
¢. past and future lost wages and loss of earning capacity;
d. past and future emotional distress;
e. consequential and/or special damages;
f.  all available noneconomic damages, including without limitation pain, suffering, and loss
of enjoyment of life;
g. disgorgement of profits obtained through unjust enrichment;
h. restitution;
i. punitive damages with respect to cach cause of action;
j. reasonable and recoverable attorneys’ fees;
k. costs of this action; and
l. pre-judgment and all other interest recoverable
Also, on the basis of the foregoing, the Plaintiff requests that a jury be selected to hear this case and
render a verdict for the Plaintiff, and against the Defendants, and that it award damages to the Plaintiff in
an amount which adequately reflects the enormity of the Defendants’ wrongs, and which will effectively
prevent other similarly caused acts. Further, the Plaintifl requests that the Court enter judgment
consistent with the jury’s verdict, and prays for any other damages and equitable relief the Court or jury

deems appropriate under the circumstances.

THE PLAINTIFF DEMANDS A TRIAL BY JURY
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Dated; Qctober 24, 2019

Respectfully Submitted,

By: _/s/JOHN T. MITCHELL. JR,

John T. Mitchell, Jr. (GA Bar No.: 513150)
John T. Mitchell Jr., LLC

3646 Vineville Avenue

Macon, Georgia 31204

Telephone: (478) 477-8485

Facsimile; (478) 477-8043

jmitchelli@ jtimitchelllaw.com

and

Neil D. Overholiz (FL Bar No.: 188761)

Noverholtz@awkolaw.com
Jennifer M. Hoekstra (LA Bar No.: 31476)

Aylstock, Witkin, Kreis & Overholtz, PLLC
17 East Main Street, Suite 200

Pensacola, FL 32502-5998

Telephone: (850) 202-1010

Fax: (850) 916-7449

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
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EXHIBIT A
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HOSPITALITY

TOOLKIT

Who We Are

The Blue Campalgn is the unified
volce for the U.S. Dapartment of
Homeland Security's {DHS) efforts to
combat human trafficking. Working
with law enforcement, government,
and non-governmental and private
organizations, the Blue Campaign
strives to protect the basic right of
freedom and bring those who exploit
human lives to justice.

What's Inside?

This toolkit offers tips and resources that can help you
inform and educate your employees about human
trafficking

It includes posters af human trafficking warning signs for
four groups of employee

e Hote] and Motel Staff
Housekarping, Maintenance and Room Staff
Conclerge, Bellman, Front Desk, Security and Valet
Staff

» Foodand Beverage Staff

These posters can be displayed in common areas of your
business where employess congregete (such as staff
break, laundry and maintenance rooms)
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€ BLUE GAMPAIEN

Oved Vot s, Dt M, ot Burnar Traffideng

What is Human Trafficking?

Human trafficking is modern-day slavery and involves the use of force, fraud or coercion

to obtain labor or commercial sex. Every year, millions of men, women and children
are trafficked in countries around the world, including the United States.

There are different types of human trafficking:

* Sex Trafficking

Victims of sex trafficking are manipulated or forced to engage in sex acts for someone else’s
commercial gain. Sex trafficking is not prostitution,

Anyone under the age of 18 engaging in commercial sex is considered to be a victim of human

trafficking. No exceptions.
= Forced Labor

Victims of forced labor are compelied to wark for little or na pay, aften manufacturing or
growing the products we use and consume every day

*  Domestic Servitude

Victims of domestic servitude are forced to work in isolation and are hidden in plain sight as

nannies, housekeepers or domastic help.

Human trafficking and the
hospitality industry

Traffickers oftan take advantage of the privacy and
anonymity offered by the hospitality industry They
can operata discreetly because staff and guests
tmay not know the signs of human trafficking.

You may have employees who are victims of forced
lzbor. If a third party applied for a position on
behatf of an individual or if emplayees are not
recefving their own paychecks, these could be signs
of human trafficking.

Hotels and motels are also major locations where
traffickers force sax trafficking victims to provide
commerdial sex to paying customers Victims may
be forced to stay 2t a hotel or mote] where
tustomers come to them, orthey are required to
£0 to rooms rented out by the customers.

What actlons can | take at my business
to help stap human trafficking?

You play a significant role in helping to stop this
termrible crime by

+ Knowing the signs of human trafficking

¢ Desipning a plan of action to respond to
reparts of heman trafficking in your
business

¢ Partnering with agencies that provide
services to victims of human trafficking In
the case of lodging, consider offering
vouchers to victims Immediate housing for
victims plays a vital role in heginning 2
victim's healing process

e Providing employee training to help them
understand and identify signs of human
trafficking

e Distributing and posting the fact sheets In
this kit to your employees

Information on additional resources, Eterature, matenals, and training

offered by the Blue Campaign can be found at ww dhs gov/blyecsmpaign
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OIGNS OF HUMAN TRAFFICKING

For Hotel and Motel Staff

Hotel and motel employees are often in the best pasition to see potential signs of
human trafficking, especially since your duties give you access to different areas of the
properties. You may also have direct or indirect cantact with both traffickers and
victims.

GENERAL INDICATORS

= Individuals shaow signs of fear, anxiety tenslion, ® Individuals have no control over or possession of
submission, andfor nervousnes: money or (0

s Individuals thow dgns of phyticat abuse, restraint, * Individuals drets mappropriataly lor their age of haye
andfor confinement. Tawer quality dothing compared to others m thetr

* Indanduals eahibet evrdence of verbal threats, =AU
emotional abuse, andfor being reated in 3 = Individuals have lfew of no personal tems—such as
demeanmg way no luggage or other bags

* Indrnduals show signs of malneunshment, poor ® Individuals appear to be with & sgnificantly older
hygiene, fatigue, sleep deprivation, untreated “hoyfriend” or in the company of alder males

Uiness, wrjuries, andfor unusual behavior * A proup of guls appears 1o be Wavelng with an aier

* Indoiduals tach lieedom of movement or are feenale ar male
e R L = A zroup of males ov females with identical tattoos in
= Indmduals avoid eyt contict and interacuon with simitar jocations This may mdicate *branding” by a
others. trafficher

Esch iwdseamiw shone may net nacsriandy mesn & permn it bamg troffick sd

WHAT TO DO IF YOU SUSPECT HUMAN TRAFFICKING

® Do nat at any time 3ttempt 1o coniront a suspected trafficker directly or 2lest a wictim to your suspidons.
® €a1l 8-1-1 for emergency situations —chreats of violence, physical assault, emergency muedical needs, etc
@ Fallaw your corparate arotocol, such as by natifying management and security
Call 1-866-DHS-Z24CE {1-866-347-2423] to report suspldous criminal activity to federal law enforcement Highly

trained specalins tak e reports fvom bath the public and law enforc agendes Submit a tip 3%
A Aics.

Ta get heip from the National Human Trafficking Resource Center (INHTRC), ca” 1-8838-373-7888 or text HELP or
INFO to BeFres {233731)

www dhs gov, ampalgn
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) SIGNS OF HUMAN TRAHHCKING

For Housekeeping, Maintenance, and Room Service Staff

I 1

Housekeeping, maintenance, and room service staff typically have the most access to
guest raoms where signs of human trafficking may be apparent. By being conscious of
human trafficking indicators, you can help identify possible human trafficking activities
and victims.

GENERAL INDICATORS

+ “Do Not Daturb”® sign used constantdy. » Individuais loitering in hakways or appearing 1o
monitor the area

&

= Reguests roam or h ping services (addis

towels, new linens, efc. ), but denies hatrifmotel = Excessivg amounts of alcohot ef iBegal drugs s
staff gntry Into room mems
= Refusaf af cieanmg sennces for multiple days. » Evidence of pornography
= Extmssive amounts of cash in a room. = Minars ieft alone in room for long penods of time
» Smel of badily Nuds and mush. = Extessive number of people staying in 2 room
= Fresence of multiple computers, oli phones, * Extended stay with few or no personal patsessions

pagers, credit Qrd swipes, or othes technoiogy * Provocative clothing and shoes

= The same peran reserving multiple fooms + Constant flaw of men it a room at a1 hoers

* Irdividuals leaving room infrequenmtly, not at ai,

- 1 p
at a1 odd hours Exresswve amounts of sex paraghernaha in rooms

{eondems, fubricant, lotion, etc |
* Children's items or clathing are present hut no

thild registered with the roosn * Rooms sioched with merchandise, luggage, mail

packages, and punies/wallets with ditferent names
Eoch umibnioy slors may nat mecersaniy meen g person o bewg traffcknd
WHAT TO DO IF YOU SUSPECT HUMAN TRAFFICKING
@ Do not 3t any time attempt 1o confront a suspected trafficker directly or alent a victim to your suspicions
® Call 5-1-1 for emergency sauations—threats of violence, physical as1auh, emergency medicel needs, etc
@ Follaw your corparate pretocn’, such as by notifying management and secunty

@ Call 1-B66-DHS-2-1CE (1-866-347-2421) 1o repor suspicious aiminal activity to federal law enforcement. Highly
trained spedialists ke reports from both the public and lew enforcement agencies Submit a tip at

waw gy xoviips

To get heip from the National Human Trafficking Resource Center {NHTRC), call 1-888.373-7888 or text HELP or
INFO 1o BeFree {231723)

wiwrw dhs o bircamangn
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SIGNS OF HUMAN TRAFFICKING

For Concierge, Bellman, Front Desk, Security, and Valet Staff

Condierge, bellman, front desk, security, and valet staff are typically the first to see
guests when they enter the hotel. When checking in or requesting hotel amenities, a
guest may exhibit behavior indicating human trafficking.

GENERAL INDICATORS
» Pacrons checding into room agpear distressed or * indniduals leaving room Inlreq ty, nat 3t 3, erat
lnjured odd hours.

= The same persan reserving multiple roomy

Minor weth a patron late night or during schoo!

" .
» Few or no peraonal itents when cheding in haurs |and notan vaction|

Ind#vidual kin om

= Aoom pald for with cash or pre-loaded credit card ~ N v ’ gheckine butolroom have no
Identification
= Excexsive usa of hotel computers for adut oriented

ar sexually expliat websies

Room bs Tented hourly, less than a day, ar far lang

term stay that does not appear normal

* Patrons not larthcoming about full names, homs
address or vehicle information when regintesing

Patrons reguest informaticn or

access to adult services or sex mdustry

* Minor taking on adult roles of behasmg oider than
actual age {paying bills, requesting senvices)

Reorn reated has fewer beds than patrons

thdanduils seling tems to or begging from

= Patron appears with 3 minor that he or she dud not patrons or staf

tomae with originally

tredrviduals enterfesit thraugh the side or res

* Rentsls of pornography when children are staying m ertrancas, nstesd of the Inbby

the room

Car in parking tat regularly parked backward, so the

. d off 1o vi
Indwviduals dropped o at the hote! o visit lcense plate s not visible

repeatedtly over a perlod of time
Lach insbeuter Slons may rot nacsisonly maan 8 permn o bong tofficled.
WHAT TO DO I YOU SUSPECT HUMAN TRAFFICKING

® Do not at any time attempt tn conbont 3 serpected trafficker dinectly or alert 3 victim 1o your suspiclons
® Call 3-1-1 for emargency situations —threats of viclance, phytical 2p1aule, emergency medical needs, etc,
@ Follow your corporate protocol, suth a3 by notifying management and securhy

Call 1-866-OHS5-2-1CE (1-866-347-2413) to report suspicous gimina) activity to federal aw enforcemen:. Highty

trained speciafists take reports from bath the public and Rw enl agencies. Submita op at
mww v poviups
@ T get help fram the Hatoral Human Trafficking Resource Center [NHTRC), call 1-888-373.7888 or text HELP or
INFO to BefFree (233733)
www d W) )
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SIGNS OF HUMAN TRAFFICKING

For Food and Beverage Staff

Food and beverage staff may have access to a guest’s room or see them using the hotel
restaurant or bar. Be conscious of these signs indicating a guest may be a victim of
human trafficking.

GENERAL INDICATORS
= Patron entertaining a minor at the bar or restaurant that he/she did not come in with originatiy.
* Patron claims to ba an adult although appearance suggests ha/she is a minar.
= Individuals Ioitering and soliciting male patrons.
+ Individuals waiting at a table or bar and picked up by 2 male [traficker or customer)
« Individuals asking staff or patrons for food or money.
» Individuals taking cash or receipls left on tablas.

fach ind“cotor slans moy Ao mecersanly masn 8 perm« s being offated

WHAT TO DO IF YOU SUSPECT HUMAN TRAFFICKING

® Do not ag any time attempt to confront a suspected trafficker dwrectly of alert & victhm to your suspicions

O Call 9:1-1 for emargency sktustionz —theyats of viol . physical i1, y madical needs, ntc
@ Follaw your corporate protocel, such as by notifying management and secunty.

@ Cail 1-966-DHS-2-1CE (1-866-347-2423) to report suspicious ariminal activity to federa! law enforcement. Highly
trained specialists take reports from bath the public and taw anforcement agencies, Submita bp at

wrww.ice govftipy

@ To prt helg [ram the National Human Tratficking Resourcs Center {NHTAC), call 1-888-173-7888 or text HELP or
INFO 1o BaFree 1233733}

wow d'n Epe blusampaIm
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